The city seal, measuring 79 inches in diameter, was created with the same “Petrachrome” method and a palette of colors, textures and elements similar to those used in the Macdonald-Wright murals. Encircled by the words, “City of Santa Monica, California. Founded 1875,” the seal features a mermaid and Spanish galleon on the bay, with sun, mountains, clouds and airplanes behind.

A ribbon near the base of the seal carries the city’s motto, *Populus Felix en Urbe Felice*, translated from the Latin as “Fortunate People in a Fortunate Land.”

The seal is inlaid in the center of the foyer floor, surrounded by color tiles that run along the east-west axis of the foyer and halls. A serrated pattern of yellow triangles running against a brown field, bordered by black stripes, echoes the chevron pattern on the tiled wainscoting found nearby.
The Overview

With a nautical quality befitting its seaside locale, Santa Monica City Hall reflects the character of its surroundings, making it a civic building truly connected to its constituency. Designed by two prominent Los Angeles architects, it is recognized as an outstanding example of the Public Works Administration (PWA) Moderne style of architecture popularized by Depression-era architects. With original Gladding, McBean ceramic tiles found around the west entrance doorway and throughout the building, and historic Stanton Macdonald-Wright murals in the entry foyer that document the city’s and the state’s history, the building’s architecture has earned it a place in the California Register of Historical Resources (1996), designation as a city landmark and eligibility for listing in the federal Register of Historic Places.

At the time of its formal dedication on November 24, 1939, speakers at the ceremony touched on the building’s social importance by emphasizing its symbolism of democracy, citizenship and civic responsibility. Its completion represented the collective efforts of residents, city leaders and the federal government to overcome the effects of the Great
Depression. That this building has served as the center of the city’s civic life for more than 60 years, with much of its original character and architectural integrity still intact, is testament to its broad architectural, social and cultural significance.

Based on the date of original construction and National Register requirements, Santa Monica City Hall’s period of significance is defined as 1938-1951. Only those spaces and features that fall within the period of significance and retain their original integrity are considered significant and character-defining. As such, the original building’s exterior is significant, as are numerous interior spaces and features.
PWA Moderne Architecture

This style of architecture was most widely used in buildings constructed between 1933 and 1944 by the federal Public Works Administration. The PWA Moderne style utilized characteristics of both the Art Deco and Art Moderne styles. From Art Deco, it borrowed geometric and angular ornamentation in low relief, vertical projections and a sense of symmetry. From Art Moderne, it took faceted corners, a flat roof, continuous ribbons of windows and a focus on horizontality. PWA Moderne became a uniquely distinguished style because of this design mix, but also because it was most often used in projects financed by the federal government.

The primary historic interior areas are the grand entry lobby with high walls, grand stairways and artworks. Character-defining features located on the first floor include the decorative tile wainscots, art murals, metal grilles, terrazzo floors, steel-framed windows, metal lighting fixtures and wood furnishings. Significant interior spaces on the second floor include the Council Chamber at the southwest corner, the original jail cells at the northeast corner and the city manager’s office on the east side. Character-defining features here include wood wall paneling, ceramic lavatories, tile floors and wood veneer doors with metal locksets.
Changes

The first change to the original City Hall occurred when a rose garden was planted in front of the entrance as a memorial to local men killed in war. Dedicated on Armistice Day, 1951, the rose garden still provides a space for remembrance and reflection.

In 1958, a three-story concrete and brick masonry addition was attached to the rear of City Hall. This new building provided space for a police department, an office for the traffic engineer and offices for the recreation department. Since the opening in 2003 of a new public safety facility and relocation of staff, this non-original addition to the historic building has been slated for demolition.

A renovation of the Council Chamber in 1999-2000 added technical upgrades and design changes to enhance meeting participation, but did not disturb the existing, historic finishes of the chamber. Of particular design interest is the crenulated wood detail added to the front of the Council dais which mimics a similar detail found at the exterior rooftop of City Hall.

(See photo, page nine.)

Restoration and Preservation

Simultaneous with the completion of a Historic Structure Report, conservation work on the murals in the lobby was completed over a period of several weeks in 2003 by the firm of Rainer, Stavroudis & Zebala. Their work was directed by the city’s Cultural Affairs Division as part of a comprehensive project to survey and restore thirteen murals in the city.
The Architects

As a young architect, Donald B. Parkinson collaborated first with his father, John Parkinson and, later, with Joseph M. Estep, to design many of Los Angeles’ most enduring landmarks. Counted among them: the original campus of the University of Southern California (1919-39), the Los Angeles Memorial Coliseum (1923 and 1930-31), Los Angeles City Hall (1928), Bullocks-Wilshire (1929) and Union Station (1939). Parkinson and Estep were responsible for the design of Santa Monica City Hall, on which construction was begun in 1938 and completed in 1939.
The Murals

The murals on the north and south walls of the foyer were painted by the renowned American artist Stanton Macdonald-Wright, who spent much of his life in Santa Monica. Using a method he pioneered and called “Petrachrome,” Macdonald-Wright painted the murals with a liquid mixture of materials including crushed tile, marble and granite, then let the work dry before polishing it. This technique soon became popular with local muralists and was nationally recognized as an important contribution to the evolution of the medium.

The mural extending from the west wall onto the north wall depicts a group of five figures meeting on a beach rimmed by mountains, with rocks in the waves at the shoreline. A Spanish conquistador stands with a padre in a Franciscan robe holding a walking stick. They face two Native Americans, kneeling and sitting at a stream, drinking with
their hands. Behind them is a standing, bearded figure who wears a blue hat and cloak, and behind him are two bridled horses. A waterfall is seen in the middle distance, the source of the stream. A bird soars in the sky. A timeline accompanying the mural indicates dates of historic significance for both the city and the state.

The mural extending from the west wall to the south portrays Santa Monica in the 1930s: the cliff-side coastal landscape, with people engaged in recreational pursuits evocative of the locale. A road race, sailboats and airplanes are seen behind large foreground figures, including two polo players (one mounted), a boy kneeling with a model airplane, a pair of tennis players and a dog.
The Tiles

The brilliantly colored tiles that surround the exterior of the front entrance to City Hall and decorate its interior were crafted by the California-based Gladding, McBean Tile Company, now the only remaining major manufacturer of hand-sculpted, ornamental terra cotta in the United States. In continuous operation since 1875, Gladding McBean’s reputation for quality craftsmanship was such that, in the early 20th century, its terra cotta ornamentation and wall tiles were integrated into numerous major public buildings, including the Wrigley Building in Chicago, the Warner Theater in Washington, D.C., Carnegie Hall in New York City, and the Bullock’s-Wilshire department store, Union Station and Los Angeles City Hall.

At the time of the tile installation at Santa Monica City Hall, Gladding, McBean was based here, although it is believed that the tiles themselves were actually made at the Gladding, McBean plant in Glendale.
The tiles are variously glazed in multiple colors, including black, beige, ochre, blue, brown, cream and reddish brown, to form either a single field of color or a bold geometric design. Their presence adds to the character and significance of the building by providing rare and unique elements of artistic creation—and they are tangible pieces of a renowned company that shaped the modern ceramics industry.
The Getty / “Preserve L.A.”

This guide was produced as part of a $70,000 “Preserve L.A.” grant to the City of Santa Monica from the Getty to research, document and help conserve the historic and architectural elements of Santa Monica City Hall. Using the research and analysis contained in the Historic Structure Report prepared by Historic Resources Group, LLC, the guide is intended to help visitors to City Hall recognize and appreciate the numerous features of the building that have historic, cultural and architectural significance in terms of both community and era.

Funding a diverse range of projects, the Getty’s grant program provides critical support to institutions and individuals worldwide that promote learning and scholarship about the history of the visual arts and the conservation of cultural heritage. Since its inception in 1984, the Getty Grant Program has supported over 3,000 projects in more than 150 countries. “Preserve L.A.” was a three-year initiative to provide much-needed financial support to Los Angeles County non-profit, charitable and government organizations for the proper planning and conservation of historical buildings and sites, thus preserving the cultural heritage and history of local communities for future generations.

The City of Santa Monica is grateful to the Getty for its financial support of this important effort to ensure the preservation of City Hall.